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and they have caused to happen and [that] we the JCS don’t know anything |
whatever about. We have been kept pretty ignorant of this and have just |
been told partial truths.” Admiral Burke failed to mention that his navy i
was involved up to its scuppers and that he had been among the first senior | |
officials to propose the adventure: more than a year earlier, on 26 February '
1960, he had sent the State Department a “paper indicative of current Navy il
thinking” that included a discussion of how “the U.S. could assist rebel |
groups covertly to overthrow the present government.”* A navy task group |
under the command of Admiral John Clark had escorted the c1a’s brigade |
to the battle site and had turned over the landing craft to the invaders, |
and on the motning of 19 April, Clark’s carrier, the Essex, had launched
navy fighters to protect rebel planes from Castro’s air force. Below the flight |
deck, two thousand U.S. Marines had been issued live ammunition and
were ready to fight should JFk permit U.S. troops to enter the battle.?

But the nation’s new president, John Kennedy, would not allow the ||

marines to be deployed, and the navy fighters came too late to be useful, so |
Admiral Clark’s principal role was to receive and forward reports on the de-
o bacle. Sitting offshore at 11:18 A.M. on 19 April, he received a message from )
y the beach: “Please send help. We cannot hold.” Thirteen minutes later,
e he received another: “Out of ammunition. Men fighting in water.” A half
3 hour after that, Clark reported that the area held by the brigade “appears
r to be one quarter to one half mile along the beach to a depth of about one
v, \quarter [mile] under artillery fire with tanks and vehicles to both east and
e west. Believe evacuation impossible without active [U.S.] engagement with
n (Castro forces.” Then the brigade’s radio operator sent his final message:
e ' R“Am destroying all equipment and communications. Tanks are in sight. I ' ‘
at have nothing left to fight with. Am taking to the woods. I cannot wait for

you'." A few minutes later Clark radioed the Pentagon, “Castro is waiting on
beach.”s

lat evening c1a director Allen Dulles told Richard Nixon, “This is
y O1st day of my life"; Attorney General Robert Kennedy thought that
es “looked like living death.” Dean Rusk complained that the Bay of
?Vas “one hell of a way to close out my first hundred days as secretary

0 is far better organized and more formidable than we had sup-
ptesidential adviser Arthur Schlesinger Jr. wrote in his diary on |
the three-day debacle. Cubans clearly had not been sitting idly
__-\.loter‘s Passed the torch to the Kennedy generation. As JFK was
S party’s Nomination, Fidel Castro was telling Cubans that “our
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enemies are used to threatening countries, they are used to trampling on
the sovereignty of nations and issuing orders. But there are no Yankee sol-
diers commanding our armies anymore, and there are no workers with-
out weapons to defend themselves.” During the preceding year, Cuba had
established diplomatic relations with every communist government except
that of East Germany and had signed cooperative accords with all but Alba-
nia, in the process doubling Cuba’s credit lines and disposing of 70 percent
of the 1961 sugar harvest. Then, two days before Kennedy’s inauguration,
Banco Nacional president Che Guevara had returned from a three-month
tour of communist countries, his briefcase bulging with trade agreements,
The U.S. press had occasionally noted Guevara's travels, including his Bej-
jing speech characterizing the United States as an imperialist power and
his Shanghai address announcing that communism “has defeated capital-
ism in all fields."”

But this was to be expected from the Argentine adventurer, always
considered a dyed-in«the-wnol communist; Fidel Castro was the person
watched most closely, and his problem was perceived not so much as com-
munist leanings as mental imbalance: the c1A's first JFK-era report began
with the premise that “no sane man undertaking to govern and reform
Cuba would have chosen to pick a fight with the Us,” especially since Washs
ington had done nothing provocative—the breakdown in relations “is not
a function of us policy and action, but of Castro’s psychotic personality:
It is evident, on the testimony of his supporters at the time, that Castro
arrived in Havana in a high state of elation amounting to mental illness®
From there, things went downhill, as Castro “became convinced that the
us would never understand and accept his revolution, that he could expeﬁi-
only implacable hostility from washington. This was the conclusion of hi§
own disordered mind, unrelated to any fact of US policy or action.”®

The principal concrete problem in early 1961 was that Cubans Wer€
porting their revolution to the rest of Latin America—"Cuba becoming
center for Latin American Communist activities” is how the c1a had bé
its National Security Council briefing a year earlier. According to the s

embassy, no sooner had Castro reached power than he announced &
“Nicaraguans should take to the mountains and fight for the freedo
Cubans had done, and could count beforehand on complete suppe

Cuban people.” Within months, Cuba had supported (;r.fmma-.hk:
an R€)

sions not simply of Nicaragua but also of Panama, the pominic
pro_ [1]

lic, and Haiti, and at 1960's 26th of July celebration, Castro had




e

The Bay of Pigs 145

- on «to continue making the nation the example that can convert the Cordillera
sol- of the Andes into the Sierra Maestra of the hemisphere.” Three weeks later
ith- he told another audience, “Our slogan is: “Today our country is free forever,
had | and someday all the Americas will be free forever.””?
cept | In mid-1960 President Eisenhower had told the British prime minister,
\Iba- Harold Macmillan, that “this kind of change, when it brings Communism
cent | in its wake, is intolerable from the standpoint of our national interests and
tion, that of the liberal democratic Christian tradition which we all share.”** So
onth when the president discussed Cuba with the president-elect on 19 January
ents, 1961, a day before the transition, Eisenhower told JFx directly, “We cannot
s Bei- let the present government there go on,” and Treasury Secretary Robert
r and Anderson added that “in the final analysis the United States may have to
pital- | run Castro out of office.”™* The Joint Chiefs of Staff told the new secretary of
' defense the same thing a week later—“The primary objective of the United
Iways states in Cuba should be the speedy overthrow of the Castro Government,
erson | followed by the establishment of a pro-U.S. Government.” Then the chiefs
; com- handed Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara their view of the options,
began an elaborate table with escalating steps, from Step 1, economic pressure,
eform to Step 7, a U.S. invasion. Step 3 was to “train and equip small volfunteer]
Wash- force Cuban exiles to invade, establish a center of resistance for anti-Castro
“is not Cubans to rally to establish pro-U.S. Govt.”*?
nality. After this meeting McNamara drove across the Potomac to the White
Castro House, where JFK and his other senior advisers were waiting to be briefed
Iness.” by cIa director Allen Dulles. Bundy’s notes indicate that “the judgment
hat the -expressed without dissent was that Cuba is now for practical purposes a
| expect Communist-controlled state,” so the discussion focused on how to over-
n of his \thro
8 i t's Rusk and Thomas Mann, who warned that a U.S. invasion would
vere ex: * “grave political dangers to our position throughout the Western
yming & : lisphere,” which prompted President Kennedy to ask the chair of the
d begun! At Chiefs what he thought of Step 3, the proposal to use the exiles being
the U.S. B by the c14 in Guatemala. General Lyman Lemnitzer responded that

ced thats e h exile invasion “would have very little chance of success,” while
._utes indicate that Dulles and aide Tracy Barnes “took a very opti-
ew of the force’s ability to land and hold a beach head.” The presi-
8€tl the two sides to see if they could produce a single conclusion,
the meeting with his first directive about Cuba: “A continuation
8tion of current activities of the Central Intelligence Agency,
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including increased propaganda, increased political action and increased
sabotage.” Clearly anxious to do something, JFK asked Bundy a few days
later, “Have we determined what we are going to do about Cuba?”*

At the same time, the c1a had set out to convince the Joint Chiefs to en-
dorse the agency’s plan. Painting the rosiest possible picture, a C1a briefer
“emphasized that the proposed strike could be conducted with no overt
U.S. military support other than the provision of one LSD, and that the force
once committed would not have to be evacuated in the event of inability
to hold the initial objective area, as it could, if required, disperse and con-
tinue to survive.” The c1a emphasized that “the likelihood of success wag
very high in terms of staying in the initial objective area long enough and in
sufficient control to permit the introduction of a ‘Provisional Government’
and provide a rationale for the subsequent employment of overt military
force, if desired.”4

One flaw marred this rosy picture: Step 3, a “surprise” attack, had re-
cently been featured on the front page of the New York Times. The first spe-
cific information had come from the Hispanic American Report, a news di-
gest published by Stanford University’s Latin American studies program,
whose director, Ronald Hilton, had learned about the c1a’s facility: “Reli-
able observers in Guatemala say that without doubt there is in Retalhuleua
large and well-fortified base where Cuban exiles are being trained to invade:
Castro’s fortress. . . . It is generally believed among responsible Guatemal:
ans that there is only one possible source for the funds necessary for such:
a major project, namely the U.S. Government acting through the CAS
Hilton’s scoop had been picked up by The Nation, although it, too, hadial
limited readership, and the cover was blown off the invasion preparation’S
only when the New York Times ran its story on 10 January 1961: “U.S. Helps!
Train an Anti-Castro Force at Secret Guatemalan Air-Ground Base.” There
on the front page, was a map pinpointing the U.S. facility."® :

As the Joint Chiefs had warned Secretary McNamara, the operation

was a security nightmare —any journalist could have uncovered the StOR8
simply by talking with Guatemalans living near the training base: “Firin
explosions, aircraft orbiting over an objective area, parachute drops,

an abnormal number of unfamiliar aircraft in the area are a dead §

away.” Indeed, the reporter would not have needed to visit the area,

“leaflets have been circulated in Guatemala City by the (:ommuni?t
giving many of the details of the activity. Although there are somet
racies in this material, much of it is accurate.” In fact, the reporter y
not have needed to leave the United States, for leaks were also
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of Miami—newspapers in March quoted both Cuban opposition leader
Tony de Varona’s promise that an invasion would come “very soon” and
another exile leader’s declaration that “today we stand on the threshold of
an adventure far greater than has yet been written in Cuban history.” Ten

and increased
dy a few days
uba?”?

t Chiefs to en-
. a C1A briefer

days before the invasion, the New York Times reported that in Miami “the

with no overt ] preparations against Dr. Castro are an open secret. They are discussed in

d that the force 1
ent of inability

the streets, Cuban cafes and restaurants and almost everywhere that two
or more Cubans congregate.” After giving an interview ta yet another re-

perse and con- porter whose questions indicated an exceptionally clear picture of the en-

of success was tire operation, Schlesinger warned President Kennedy that “if an enterpris-

-enough and in ing magazine writer could pick all this up in Miami in a couple of weeks,

al Government’ Habana must be well posted on developments.”16

Several participants blamed the invasion’s failure on these security

f overt military :
preaches and especially on the Miami chatter—what the cia’s inspector

general called “the gregariousness of Cuban exiles.” This was not a new
charge; at the first meeting of what was to become the agency’s Bay of Pigs
task force, Colonel J. C. King had warned that “he knew of no Latin Ameri-
can country whose people were less secure operationally than Cubans.”
General David Gray agreed (“Cubans cannot keep quiet”), as did Grayston
Lynch, one of the two c1A officials most directly responsible for the bri-
gade, who wrote that “the average Cuban is a highly emotional, vocal, and
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thoroughly likable individual. Consequently, as an intelligence operative,
he is his own worst enemy. When entrusted with a most secret matter, he
will solemnly agree never to tell a living soul, even under the pain of death,
and he truly means it. But all too soon, he discovers, he will have to tell
meone or he will explode from the effort of holding the secret in.” And
Cubans were not the only talkative participants. The British picked up
ithe plan before any Cuban (or even President Eisenhower) had seen it;
ate November 1959, Great Britain’s Foreign Office informed the coun-
Washington embassy about “various pieces [of] information that have
hed us” and asked the ambassador to snoop around: “The Us authori-
imay be contemplating trying to stimulate or support an anti-Castro

Entalong the lines of the action they took in Guatemala some years
Can you find out?"’

eventeen months later, jrk was worried by what he read in the
PETS, and he asked hig principal aides, including McNamara,
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But of course Castro knew; everyone knew. As early as August 1960,

Cuban intelligence knew that 45 military advisers, many of them U.S. ¢iti- into the
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was no longer “any hope of overthrowing the Castro regime with economic
warfare measures alone, even if they include an effective blockade.”?' A
week later, President Eisenhower dropped a year’s worth of preparation
into the lap of his successor.

THESE PREPARATIONS WERE BEING OVERSEEN by the c1a’s deputy di-
rector for plans, Richard Bissell, the heir apparent to Allen Dulles as direc-
tor of central intelligence. Bissell operated through a special Caribbean
unit—Branch 4 of the Western Hemisphere Division (WH/4), led by J. D.
“Jake” Esterline, an Office of Strategic Services veteran with experience
behind enemy lines in Burma who had been the army’s chief instructor
in guerrilla warfare before entering the c1a, where his first responsibility
had been to help overthrow the Arbenz government in Guatemala. As a
branch chief, Esterline should have reported to division chiefJ. C. King, but
as Esterline later explained, “J. C. was sort of gently eased out of things. ...
Our orders came directly from Bissell.”22

Bissell, in turn, dominated every detail. “His mind was swift and pene-
trating, and he had an unsurpassed talent for lucid analysis and fluent ex-
position,” recalled Arthur Schlesinger. “He had extraordinary gifts of ex-
position. We all listened transfixed . . . fascinated by the workings of this
superbly clear, organized and articulate intelligence, while Bissell, pointer
in‘hand, would explain how the invasion would work.” Richard Goodwin
‘characterized Bissell as “a cultivated man with impeccable credentials—
'good school, good family, good war—a social acquaintance of many Ken-
‘nedy intimates, including the president’s own family.” But it was not simply
t he could talk comfortably and confidently to, the Kennedy elite; his
cessful management of the U-2 project had also given him a reputation
for/getting things done, and in early 1961 McGeorge Bundy had suggested
Kennedy name Bissell undersecretary of state for political affairs. “The
iwho fills this job will have to be an active and decisive person, quite
fit from the ordinary foreign service type,” Bundy wrote. Kennedy
itted, perhaps because Bundy added that “if Dick has a fault it is that
not look at all sides of the question.”??
1 unquestionably had the leading role in convincing JFK to go
With the exile invasion —White House logs indicate thirteen infor-
': fﬁce meetings between the two men in the three months before
310n; as Bissell’s secretary told Seymour Hersh, “He was there all
One of Bissell's senior CIA colleagues, Robert Amory, noted that

WEWas extremely fond of Dick Bissell, had a very high regard for
I
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him. I think he regarded Dick as probably one of the four or five brightest
guys in the whole Administration.” “Kennedy was seduced,” added Arthur
Schlesinger. “All of us—Kennedy and Bundy and the rest—were hypnotized
by Dick Bissell to some degree, and assumed that he knew what he was
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doing.”?*
And Bissell’s visi
of covert successes in the postwar cra

and of course Guatemala, all palanced by only one failure, the 1958 effort
to unseat Indonesia’s Sukarno. As the agency had grown accustomed to
quiet, inexpensive victories, the executive branch had grown accustomed to
action unfettered by public debate and congressional consultation. A few
lies might be needed to deflect inquiries from the press, but no one worried
about getting caught—seven years had passed since the Guatemala coup,
and nothing had yet been published to challenge the State Department’s

on was easy to endorse. The ¢1a had run up a string
—in Greece, the Philippines, Iran,

denial of any complicity.?®
U.S. officials were therefore fr
one key question had always been how the Cuban population would re-

act to the landing of a paramilitary force. The plan the cia outlined in its
pre-inaugural briefing of Secretary of State Dean Rusk called for the U.S.-

ee to focus on the planned invasion, where

trained exiles “to seize and defend a small area.”

It is expected that these operations will precipitate a general uprising
throughout Cuba and cause the revolt of large segments of the Cuban
Army and Militia. The lodgements, it is hoped, will serve as a rallying
point for the thousands who are estimated to be ready for overt resiss
tance to Castro but who hesitate to act until they can feel some assurance
if one is successfully triggered by
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cratic Revolutionary Front (Frente Revolucionario Democratico [FrRD]) had
yielded “excellent results,” but that assessment was not simply optimistic;
it was dead wrong. The C1A had assigned the job of creating this unified
exile political organization to Howard Hunt, later made famous by Water-
gate, and he held FrRD leaders in contempt: “I considered them shallow
thinkers and opportunists,” he wrote. “For Latin American males their
caliber was about average; they displayed most Latin faults and few Latin
virtues.” This evaluation probably helps explain why, as the c1a’s inspector
general subsequently concluded, “as the project grew, the Agency reduced
the exile leaders to the status of puppets.”?”

The c1a also told Rusk that the U.S. propaganda offensive (nine hours of
daily broadcasting via Radio Swan) had fueled Cubans’ disaffection, adding
that more than words were being sent: “We have delivered, via twelve mari-
time missions, over 15,000 pounds of arms ammunition and demolition
materials to resistance elements in Cuba. As of 13 January, we had dropped
over 36,000 pounds of arms, leaflets and food on thirteen overflights”; most
important, 560 Cuban personnel were now training in Guatemala. Addi-
tional recruits would soon be available, the c1a added, and “with the recent
acquisition of 37 U.S. Army Special forces instructors, training should be
completed by our target date.” On the single occasion when ci1a briefers
were more candid (in mid-February they admitted that they had only “a
'good chance of overthrowing Castro”), they followed this cautious evalua-
tion with a definite, “or at the very least causing a damaging civil war.”2¢
. The Joint Chiefs continued to oppose the project, but no one in the Pen-
\tagon seemed willing to lie down in front of the c1a’s truck, and Defense

cials eventually accepted Bissell’s rosy scenarios, which were buttressed
yiaseries of optimistic reports: “The opposition forces in the Escambray
njoying great popularity with the Cuban people,” the agency asserted
ntly on 10 March, and a few days later it estimated “that Castro had
upport of fewer than 20 per cent of the people and that fewer than 10
cent of these supporters were true fidelistas." Then came the informa-
Mthat “disenchantment of the masses has spread through all the prov-

e okesmen of opposition groups say that Santiago de Guba and all
e Ifrovince is seething with hate.”® By early February, the chiefs
ﬁeﬂlng, telling Secretary McNamara that “timely execution of this
afair chance of ultimate success”; at an interdepartmental meet-
d_as later, the representative of the Joint Chiefs of Staff “indicated
fident that the gtrike force would be able to hold the beachhead
SiXdays.” Fyer, without an uprising, “the main body of the landing
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maintain themselves there indefi-
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that he adamantly opposed the use of U.S. troops: “I'm not going to risk an
American Hungary. And that’s what it could be, a fucking slaughter.”3? As-
gistant Secretary Thomas Mann was also opposed: the plan would not work
he said, primarily because a popular uprising against Castro was unlikely’
so “we would, I believe, be far better off to do whatever has to be done in ar;
open way and in accordance with the American tradition.”** Only Senator
J. william Fulbright and Undersecretary of State Chester Bowles consis-
tently opposed the operation on principle. “The Castro regime is a thorn
in the flesh; but it is not a dagger in the heart,” Fulbright told Kennedy. “To
give this activity even covert support is of a piece with the hypocrisy and
cynicism for which the United States is constantly denouncing the Soviet
Union in the United Nations and elsewhere. This point will not be lost on
the rest of the world—nor on our own consciences for that matter.” Bowles
said the same thing.*

- with these two exceptions, the argument made by the plan’s opponents
was not that overthrowing Castro’s government was wrong but either that it
would fail or that it would damage U.S. relations with the rest of the world
especially Latin America—as Rusk worried, “We might be confronted b);
gerious uprisings all over Latin America if U.S. forces were to go in,” and
Mann added that “the effect on our position of hemispheric leadership
would be catastrophic.” So, McGeorge Bundy warned the president,

when you have your meeting this afternoon on Cuba, I think you will
find that there is a divergence of view between State on -the one hand
and c1a and Defense on the other. Defense and c1a now feel quite en-
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C | . .
d in his coun . remarkable job of reframing the landing plan so as to make it unspecta
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When.JFK went around the table at one final meeting wi.th his advi

on 4 April, only Senator Fulbright and Secretary Rusk were o a (;/lsers
Rusk’s negative vote was not strongly asserted —“I have alwa; fioze , and
regret that I did not oppose the Bay of Pigs more forcefull nyh ? a deep
years later. “Rusk had plenty of private misgivings,” wrotg ’Sche;ea'mente'd
his diary, “but he never, to my knowledge, opposed the operati singer in
argued against it, never told the President to call it off.” I’JI‘WO :1) & nefver
the invasion’s collapse, JFK commented, “There is only (;ne o a)’s. after
clear—that’s Bill Fulbright. And he probably would have bee Ifl’ - on in th.e
he had attended more of the meetings.” With varying levels of entrtllVer'ted if
all the others advised the president to go ahead —“Let 'er rip” uilasm,
of the most experienced person at the table, Adolf Berle 4[?T:1Vas the vote
Schlesinger handed JFK his memo indicating that “on b'ala € next day,
against it,” but on 11 April, Robert Kennedy took Schlesinger arsl,cc(l3 ...lam
himithat “the president has decided to go ahead and theregis nO;(fi?l?idnts;d
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after it was written.) Barnes and other c1a officials who participal‘ed in the
anyassessment that faulted their prepara-
xample, wrote that the purpose of the
New Frontier by heaping guilt
memoirs of Kennedy-

failed project generally criticized
tion or execution. Howard Hunt, fore
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nid

Taylor Commissi
on c1a” and that all o
era authors combined to create
and obloquy that must have made the Kremlin mad with joy.

But what exactly had gone wrong? The c1A had told Kennedy officials be-
fore the battle that the rebels were “the be
and just before the attack, Colonel Hawkins, a much-decorated combat

hero, had reported that

st-trained men in Latin America,”

these officers are young, vigorous, intelligent and motivated with a fa-

natical urge to begin battle for which most of them have been prepar-
ing in the rugged conditions of training camps for almost a year. I have
talked to many of them in their language. Without exception, they have
utmost confidence in their ability to win. They say they know their own
lieve after they have inflicted one serious defeat upon op-
atter will melt away from Castro, who they have no
uban tradition to join a winner and they
1ents against the best

people and be
posing forces, the 1
wish to support. They say itis C
have supreme confidence they will win all engagen
Castro has to offer.

«] share their confidence,” Hawkins added. “The Brigade is well organized

and is more heavily armed and better equipped in some respects than U.S.
mits. The men have received intensive training in the use of their

infantry u
firing experience than U.S. troops would no&

weapons, including more
mally receive.”*?

The brigade’s fighters clearly p
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for themselves.” The c1a observer hypothesized that this type of leader-
ship “might indicate a reason why the 5th Battalion seemed reluctant to
go ashore.” At the same time, Admiral Clark was trying to convince the
undamaged ships to return to the battle and unload their supplies. Two
of them did so, but two others continued southward, with one captain
radioing that “he would have trouble with his crew if he attempted to turn
north.” He eventually turned the boat around, but the fourth boat was 218
miles south of the Bay of Pigs by noon on the second day of the three-day
battle.*®

The story was the same when it came time to evaluate the performance
of the Cuban pilots: before the battle, Colonel Hawkins reported they were
“motivated, strong, well trained, armed to the teeth, and ready.” He con-
sidered the crews “equal to the best U.S. Air Force squadron.” But a U.S.
contract pilot told a different story in a postbattle debriefing:

MR. [ROBERT] KENNEDY: You say then that you did not find the
Cuban pilots to be very good?

MR. HAYDEN: No. When the chips were down and the going was
tough, they found excuses NOT to do the job.

MR. KENNEDY: What percentage would you say did do their job?

MR. HAYDEN: I'd say that not over 35 per cent of them did.

Stanley Beerli, an air force colonel on loan to the c1a as chief of air opera-
tions, interrupted to point out that “in our early missions, we had some
Cuban crews making as many as three passes over heavily defended tar-
gets,” to which Hayden replied, “That was in the early days when they
;§_melled victory. When the going got tough, we had trouble even getting
Et_hem into the aircraft. On D+2, it took us several hours to get some of their
' r.ew.s in the aircraft, and then they aborted the mission.” Beerli eventually
mitted that his gung-ho Cuban pilots “were good until things started
Ing wrong,” and by the morning of 19 April, “he had to beg them to go.”*
M€ C1A’s independent assessment included the information that “on
lus 1 it became necessary to utilize American civilian pilots to protect
?achhiad area due to the fact the Cubans were either too tired or re-
pt:esﬂs); dairri(tiot::rtv ;‘Coenf(t)};e 1I“r(;i)rnti.ng of D plus 2 American pilots again
(1) . protec 1o.n of the beachhead area for.two fea—

e Cuban pilots to fly more combat sorties with-

to air ;
8 Cov.er and (2) the Americans were attempting to build morale
10p a will to win .45
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he contract employees, such as ships’ officers, treated the
Cubans like dirt.” The inspector general concluded that “the Agency, and
for that matter, the American nation is not likely to win many people away
from Communism if the Americans treat other nationals with condescen-
or contempt, ignore the contributions and the knowledge which they

and generally treat them as incompetent children whom
150

[while] some of t

sion
can bring to bear,
the Americans are going to rescue for reasons of their own.

Both the inspector general and the Taylor Commission also placed some
blame on President Kennedy for dictating crucial details, beginning with
alanding at the populated region around Trinidad, directly adja-
cent to the Escambray Mountains where guerrilla operations might have
been possible, and insistence on a less favorable but nearly deserted site
where U.S. assistance would be less obvious. c1a officials did not complain
I at the time JFK made his decision, but when subsequently asked why the
more remote site had been selected, Jake Esterline shot back, “There was
no other goddam place.” JFK’s 11 March veto of Trinidad came at the insis-
| tence of Dean Rusk and Thomas Mann, both of whom expressed concern
that deniability would be impossible as long as the air strikes were coming
from outside Cuba: Mann “hammered at the point repeatedly and wanted
to know if there wasn’t some area where they could land on a ready made
area” The Bay of Pigs had a landing strip marginally adequate for use by
the rebels, while Trinidad did not. Atone earlier meeting, Rusk had asked if
perhaps the c1a could drop a bulldozer near Trinidad and quickly construct
a runway, prompting Esterline to reply sarcastically that “if I ever make a

suggestion like that to Mr. Dulles, I should be summarily fired.” That, Ester-
151

his veto of

line noted “is the last time I ever went to a meeting with Mr. Rusk.
More important than the site selection was Kennedy's decision to
._\‘_ivhittle away at the plan, constantly reducing the scope of U.S. involvement.
The_ Taylor Commission concluded that “the leaders of the operation were
liged to fit their plan inside changing ground rules laid down for non-
ilitary considerations, which often had serious operational disadvan-
s.’.' Writing in retirement, the C1A’s Dulles concluded that “among the
fidential] advisers there were enough Doubting Thomas to dull the at-
: but r%ot enough to bring about its cancellation.”>* The ostensible goal
;;:lzztzii plausible deniability, and administration officials continu-
- requests for more obvious U.S. involvement, beginning in
L 6;;'}2?“:};6 Secre?ary-designate, Rusk, turned down Bissell’s request
Irefdayzi;af airfield in southern Florida for support flights, and
ore the assault, when the State Department rejected
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the c1a proposal to use sonic booms to scare the Cubans because such I tinal
booms could come only from U.S. aircraft.%* Atal

At the same time, everyone directly involved in the operation consid- pusst:
ered plausible deniability an impossible condition. A senior c1a official re- mighi
marked, “You can't say that fifteen hundred Cubans got together in a sort serdt
of Michael Mullins Marching and Chowder Society and acquired aircraft | 3;3311:
and ships and ammunition and radios and so on and so forth all by their 4 Iﬁ
little selves. The American hand would clearly show in it.” This was also the is un

view of the admiral who loaned the brigade its landing craft after dutifully
painting out any identifying marks: “There was nothing on them that said
U.S., but I don't know who would have thought they belonged to anybody
else.” Those who took this position included former president Eisenhower,
who accepted JFK's invitation to talk immediately after the invasion: “I was
astounded, I said, ‘Mr. President, how could you expect the world to believe
that we had nothing to do with it? Where did these people get the ships to
go from Central America to Cuba? Where did they get the weapons? Where
did they get all the communications and all the other things that they would
need? How could you possibly have kept from the world any knowledge
that the United States had been assisting the invasion?” But all of these
comments came after the fiasco. No one warned President Kennedy before
the invasion that denial would be impossible. Clearly grasping at straws,
Arthur Schlesinger was typical when he suggested to JFK that it would be
possible “to show that the alleged CIA personnel were errant idealists or
soldiers of fortune working on their own."**

The crucial change dictated by the quest for deniability was a series of
decisions limiting air support. “By holding back air support,” Richard Nixon
wrote, “Kennedy had doomed the operation,” but Nixon failed to note that
the first limitation was imposed by the Eisenhower administration, when
Undersecretary of State Livingston Merchant told the Special Group “that
it would be impossible politically to carry out three days of pre-invasion
bombing."% Bissell accordingly revised the plan to include bombing onlf
one day before the invasion, although this reduced the probability that 811:
of Castro's air force would be destroyed before the invasion and althought
everyone directly involved in the project continued to insist that wiping out
all of Castro’s planes was essential. A few days after Bissell's revision
c1A’s briefing notes for secretary-designate Rusk included the flat assﬁfﬂ
that “control of air and sea in the objective area is absolutely required-4
Cuban Air Force and naval vessels capable of opposing our landing 3

be knocked out or neutralized before our amphibious shipping mak

cruit
the €
puert
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| final run into the beach. If this is not done, we will be courting disaster.”
At a 1996 conference, Esterline seemed surprised that his message was not
passed to the president: “It never occurred to me before that Dick Bissell
[ might not be relaying what we were saying to Kennedy—what was so des-
perately vital to the success of this thing. And we—believe me—we didn’t
spell it out just once, we spelled it out every day as we went along.”

Had Eisenhower and Kennedy not reduced the prelanding bombing, it
is unclear whether a sufficient number of Cuban exiles could have been re-
cruited to fly the aircraft. To train Cubans to operate a thirty-plane air force,
the c1a brought more than 150 U.S. personnel to an airfield at Nicaragua’s
Puerto Cabezas, but the agency, worried that the Cuban pilots “may lack
the motivation to take the stern measures required against targets in their
own country,” soon requested permission to use U.S. pilots.”” Deniability
dictated that U.S. personnel not be authorized to fly the planes in combat.

Then President Kennedy decided to cancel air support by U.S. Navy pilots
on the morning of the invasion, thereby signing what Esterline saw as the
pbrigade’s death warrant: “It was totally predictable. If we didn’t have air
‘ superiority for a couple of days, until things could happen inside Cuba, we
were dead.” Calling JFK’s decision a “devastating blow,” Dulles wrote, “Had
I known that there might be no second air strike at the Bay of Pigs and that
no air cover would be provided, my judgment would have been very similar
to the estimate I gave at the time of Guatemala—some chance of success
with the air cover, none without it.”>® Hunt also viewed the destruction of
Castro’s air force as “basic to the success of the entire invasion,” and Barnes
agreed: “The plan that was appraised was modified by elimination of the
D-Day airstrike. Had the Cuban Air Force been eliminated, all these esti-
‘mates might have been accurate instead of underestimated.” Grayston
“Lynch described hearing that J¥x had canceled the air support as “like
Iﬁar'ning that Superman is a fairy.”>
p In'the end, the few air attacks that were permitted proved inadequate.

ifirst came on 15 April, two days before the invasion, and U.S. officials
#B5equently could not even agree on their purpose: the c1a’s Esterline
fed that they had sought to destroy Castro’s air force on the ground,
the Joint Chiefs’ Lemnitzer insisted that “they were never intended
€0mplish the destruction of the Castro air force. They were to lend
B illty to the story that the strikes had been launched from within
® The 15 April attack failed to meet either objective. Twelve of
eighteen planes were knocked out of combat, leaving him with
jet trainers, two British propeller-driven Sea Furies, and two or
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of the situation could well lead us, step by step, to the point where the last
step would be to dispatch the Marines.”®
Bissell denied that he had been involved in any such bait-and-switch
subterfuge, but few mortals writing for the historical record would volun-
teer that they had engineered a military debacle while simultaneously de-
ceiving their commander in chief. Bissell also varied his story: in his 1975
oral history, he downplayed the need for the local support that he had pre-
viously considered crucial (“We didn’t look for any help from the locals
in that [initial] phase”), and he outlined a scenario that had never before
been mentioned: if “you had a beachhead that couldn’t be dislodged, then
that might have been the time to press, through diplomatic channels, for
a cease fire and a supervised election.” In the end, Bissell may not have
known exactly what he had expected to occur. “After he was fired, Bissell
spent much of his time contriving ingenious justifications,” White House
aide Richard Goodwin later wrote. “As obsessively as the Ancient Mariner,
he recounted his sad tale of promises broken, decisions not taken, fatal
hesitations—all fabricated to divert attention from his own fabulous stag-

gering miscalculation.”*

Since even Bissell seemed so uncertain, Schlesinger’s bait-and-switch
hypothesis would be little more than speculation had not Dulles left be-
hind some supporting evidence—handwritten notes in the Allen Dulles
Papers uncovered by Lucien Vandenbroucke. There the c1A director ad-
mitted to having failed to be completely candid with the president about
“the realities of the situation” and conceded that the ¢1a’s plan had some

holes in it:

We did not want to raise these issues . . . which might only harden the
decision against the type of action we required. I have seen a good many
operations which started out like the B of P—most under complete
.S.ecrecy—non-involvement of the us [and] initial reluctance to autho-
Iize supporting actions. This limitation tends to disappear as the needs
.O_.f the operation become clarified. [We] felt that when the chips were
:.'_SI_QWn—when the crisis arose in reality, any action required for success
swould be authorized, rather than permit the enterprise to fail

‘Was this the thinking as the c1a prepared its invasion? All the major par-
tl'u:; ‘:;:’lln:::;:reid 1:;lnd barring the discovery of some new documents,
e ¢ known for certain. The fact that there was no plan
eps—for how to proceed after the beach had been secured—

I
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may have indicated nothing more that the belief that Cubans would rise up ; to |
and join the invaders. But securing the beach may have been when Dulles, th !
Bissell, and others expected JFK to send in the marines waiting offshore on “.j

the Essex. “The whole plan of the c1a . .. was Phase 2, the U.S. invasion,”
argued both Philip Brenner and Piero Gleijeses at a 1996 conference, and

theirs is a convincing argument.®’

SOME COWARDICE, much inadequate staffing, many White House de-
mands for deniability (which changed the site and limited the air cover),
and J¥K’s refusal to be led into a commitment of U.S. forces—all of thege
factors help to explain the invasion’s failure. But their explanatory power

pales in comparison to the one crucial miscalculation: Cubans, the cia
‘ believed, would welcome the invaders. Eleven days before the invasion, the

agency reported,

It is generally believed that the Cuban Army has been successfully pene-
trated by opposition groups and that it will not fight in the event of a
showdown. It is also certain that the police, who despise the militia, will
not fight. The morale of the militia is falling. They have shown little wish
to fight. . .. It is generally believed [redacted] that approximately 55 to
80 percent of the militia units will defect when it becomes evident that
the real fight against Castro has begun.

And this was not the first such prediction. Since mid-1960, the c1a had
been reporting on “mounting evidence of internal dissatisfaction and
mounting opposition to the Castro regime,” on “an encouraging upswing
... noticeable in the number of prominent defectors,” and on the Catholic
Church becoming “increasingly outspoken against Communism in Cuba.*
By the time Kennedy’s staff was preparing to move into the White House;
Bissell's deputy, Barnes, was explaining that “basic to the plan is the ex-4
pectation that . . . the landing in force will encourage and produce activ._ﬂ;_
internal opposition to Castro.” But in describing one planning meetingy
the c1a’s Hunt asserted that “neither during this nor other meetings was_f__@.
asserted that the underground or the populace was to play a decisive roleis
the campaign. The contrary has been alleged by many writers who did 8

)
ot

take part in our councils.”®

Two separate reports suggest that Barnes was correct and Hunt

taken. One came from information provided by five Bay of Pigs particl -~
na, and sneak T

reporté

was miss

who managed to escape capture, work their way to Hava
the Brazilian embassy. After debriefing the men, the embassy
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to Itamaraty that an uprising had been promised: “It was constantly said

lsli that as soon as their landing took place, numerous supporters, among the
- troops of the revolutionary Government, and the great number of uprisings
h,” in the Cuban interior, would make the work of the invaders significantly
nd easier.” A Canadian embassy report was identical: “Captured prisoners
stated that a fundamental postulate of the operation was the expectation
of anti-Castro uprisings throughout Cuba and the defection without a fight
le- I of a large proportion of the Cuban armed forces.”®
1), Back in Washington, Secretary Rusk told the Taylor Commission that an
cge ' internal uprising had been considered “utterly essential,” and McGeorge
e Bundy filled in the plan’s details: the invaders simply needed to win the first
1A battle, thereby demonstrating that they “were better fighters, with better
the equipment,” just as Colonel Hawkins had assured everyone. Then, after
that initial showing, “defections would begin; uprisings would occur in
other parts of the island, and so on.” Obviously, commented Marine Corps
ne- commandant David Shoup, Admiral Clark “wouldn’t be taking 30,000
of a ! additional rifles if we didn’t think there was going to be somebody to use
will them.” He never expected the small paramilitary force to “overthrow Castro
vish without support. They could never expect anything but annihilation.””® In
5 to his memoir, the C14’s inspector general, Kirkpatrick, concluded that the ex-
that pectation of local support had been a simple error of judgment, which led
to “a complete miscalculation by the c1a operators of what was required to
had do the job.””*
anill Many factors no doubt contributed to the defeat, but the fundamental
wing flaw—the bedrock error—was the failure to understand that the Cubans
holic would fight back. “What could they have thought of us Cubans?” asked
b | Fidel Castro. “Who would believe that a people would be so stupid to re-
yuse, | ceive them with open arms?”
e ex-
ctive :-.We are going to give them all a medal and say thanks to [Nicaragua’s
ting, " Luis] Somoza [for allowing the use of Puerto Cabezas], the State Depart-
aois ment, Mr. Kennedy, and Mr. Dulles for being so noble and so democratic
Jlein an.d Tespectful of international laws and human rights, for preparing
d not .‘S group to liberate us from agrarian reform and urban reform and
#IOm all these teachers and literacy workers. Come again to bring the
S mis- €€ administrators; come again to close the beaches, to form aris-
pants Ba:r:l‘libsy t(_) give us unemployment, to bring back the soldiers for
K intd . $ which have been transformed into schools, to bring lower

jorted and higher prices. Come again to exploit and rape.”




166 The Bay of Pigs
In the end, the United States was left with nothing but lies, a policy cap- | |
tured best by Arthur Schlesinger, who on 10 April wrote to JFK that “if some | bly
of our representatives cannot evade in debate the question whether the c1a ang
has actually helped the Cuban rebels, they will presumably be obliged, in fmi;
the traditional pre-U-2 manner, to deny any such c1A activity.” He encour- boﬁ
I aged JFK to prepare an evasive answer for Cuba’s inevitable claim that the zaf
invasion was U.S.-assisted, and “when lies must be told, they should be told whi
by subordinate officials.”” ' (for
Thus, in response to a request from an Alabama newspaper, the De- 110‘1

partment of Defense “categorically denied that any elements of the Ala-
bama National Guard, units or individuals, had participated as such in
any training program for anti-Castro rebels.” The “as such” was crucial:
| the Pentagon knew that the c1A had hired independent specialists to train
the Cuban pilots, that all of them happened to be members of the Ala-
bama Air National Guard, and that four guard members had been killed
during bombing runs in Cuba.” Others were clearly unwitting participants
in the denial. Famously, U.N. ambassador Adlai Stevenson was misled into
the most mortifying moment of his public career. A weelk before the first
air strike, Schlesinger had flown to New York to brief Stevenson, arriving
late, during the middle of Tracy Barnes’s explanation that, yes, a group of
Cubans was about to invade their homeland, and, yes, the U.S. had assisted
with funds and training, but, no, the United States was not going to be in-
volved. Neither Barnes nor Schlesinger made any effort to tell Stevenson
the truth: that the entire effort was a C1a operation. Schlesinger’s diary
characterized this incomplete briefing as “an unfortunate misunderstand-
ing,” noting that Stevenson opposed the operation but “is prepared to try

and make the best possible U.S. case.””

Aweek later, on Saturday, 15 April, a Cuban pilot climbed into a B-26 with'
Cuban air force markings and took off for Miami from the Puerto Cabezas
air base, the existence of which Barnes had failed to mention to Ambassas
dor Stevenson. Before landing, the pilot, Mario Zuiga, opened his canopy
and fired a few rounds from his pistol into one of the two engines, then

landed his crippled aireraft, told U.S. immigration officials that he had de-
yoment, eight

clds, seeking

fected from Castro's air force, and requested asylum. At thatn
fl exile-piloted B-26s were bombing three different Cuban airfi
to knock out Castro’s air capability.”®

By 10:30 A.M., Cuban foreign minister Raul Roa was st
U.N. General Assembly, pleading for help. A meeting of the General ASS

anding before tE
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. bly’s First (Political) Committee was quickly scheduled for later in the day,
and at that meeting, Roa charged the United States with bombing Cuba;
from bases in Guatemala and the United States. Stevenson insisted that the
bombing had been done by defecting Cuban pilots. Holding up a picture of
Zufiga’s aircraft, he pointed to “the markings of Castro air force on the tail,
which everyone can see for himself. The Cuban star and the initials F.A.R.
(for Fuerza Aérea Revolucionaria) are clearly visible.” “Entirely false” was
how Guatemala’s U.N. envoy characterized Roa’s claim that the invading
forces had been trained in his country.”
' within hours, the cover had been blown (the eight machine guns on
7afiga’s B-26 were mounted in the nose cone; the six machine guns on
Cuba’s B-26s were mounted on the wings), and on Sunday evening Steven-
son fired off a telegram to Secretary Rusk, the first two words of which
were “Greatly Disturbed.” Stevenson went on to say that he “had definite
impression from Barnes when he was here that no action would be taken
which could give us political difficulty.” Now, Stevenson continued, “no one

will believe that bombing attacks on Cuba from outside could have been
organized without our complicity.” Still unaware that the United States had
engineered the entire episode, Stevenson added, “nor can I understand if
we could not prevent such an outside attack from taking place at this time
why I could not have been warned and provided pre-prepared material with
which to defend us.” Early the next morning, 17 April, a few hours after the
brigade had landed, McGeorge Bundy flew up to New York to apologize and
tell Stevenson the truth. With his mission accomplished, Bundy telephoned
Rusk to report that the ambassador had agreed “to pick up the pieces and
to'see where he can go,” but, Bundy noted, “there is a morale problem.””8
| If such a problem indeed existed, Stevenson initially hid it well. Later
:fhﬂat day, when Foreign Minister Roa told the General Assembly that Cuba
-Wa's_. being invaded “by a mercenary force organized, financed and armed
::e (iovernrnent of the United States and coming from Guatemala and
. Q:;dszer:':enzo: relp))lied that Roa’s charges were “totally false,” a reply
. '*._co-umry “hadgn;n y the Guatemalan representative, who added that
ver allowed and would never allow its territory to be

Joll ) N
;-;:.li‘:);fzr:zjilon of acts of aggression against its American sister
ready to lic: “i; avaiter, SteVenSOI:l cabled Rusk to say that he, too, was
political price fOrnf(; started this c.)peration and having already paid
it, I hope we will use covert means to maximum,

it succee
d and succeed fast. . . . Overt aid, if decided upon, must
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be based on sound legal position even if it is fiction.”” A few hours later
the invasion collapsed, making Stevenson the final senior official to climb

aboard a sinking ship. c]aSt
Cuba, in contrast, now claimed a solid triumph, as Richard Goodwin re- :::y
ported after a meeting with Che Guevara several months later: “He wanteqd of
to thank us very much for the invasion—that it had been a great political - tl
victory for them—enabled them to consolidate—and transformed them 50 ol

from an aggrieved little country to an equal.” The day after the defeat, jri
told a gathering of newspaper editors that his patience was “not inexhaust-
ible,” adding emphatically that his government “will not hesitate in meet-
ing its primary obligations which are the security of our Nation.” But the
administration clearly wanted the topic off the front pages: the minutes of
a National Security Council meeting two days later “noted the President’s
view that there should be no further discussion outside the Government of
the meaning of recent landings in Cuba, since the object now is to move

forward.”8°

But what about the 1,179 prisoners? Cuba offered to exchange them for
five hundred bulldozers, an idea that appeared to emerge unrehearsed
from one of Fidel Castro’s speeches: “Thousands and thousands of tractors
have been distributed,” he told the audience of peasant farmers, focusing
on Cuba’s agrarian reform, but “there are still not enough tractors to break
all the ground.” The prisoners’ labor could help: “The least they can do is
earn the bread they eat [and] if imperialism does not want its worms to
work, let it exchange tractors and machinery for them.” More specifically,
he suggested, “let them send 500 bulldozers and we will return” the pris:
oners. Castro then asked for a vote: “If the peasants here are in agreement
with this proposal, let them raise their hands. Good.”*!

Confusion immediately arose over the type of implement demanded.
Castro had first used the Spanish word “tractores,” then had switched to
the English “bulldozers,” and then had used “tractores” again but described
bulldozer-like equipment: “The tractors must be of the tread-type, not witl
rubber tires, and the good ones that are used for building roads.” Whatevet
the model, a “Tractors for Freedom” fund-raising committee was quick
assembled, cochaired by Eleanor Roosevelt, Milton Eisenhowet;
leader Walter Reuther, and banker Joseph Dodge, who informed the Cubas
government that they would solicit private donations for the tractors: =8

The Cubans immediately sent ten of the prisoners to the United States
negotiate with the committee, but the talks hit snag after snag. The ﬁrt ¢
curred just an hour after the men arrived in Miami, when they were redl
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- later | rooms at the Dupont Hotel because one of the ten was insufficiently Cau- ‘

) climb casian. The negotiations dragged on while Republicans objected to what I
they considered blackmail and while the fund-raising committee, claiming | |
win re- a heretofore unrecognized expertise in tropical farming, discussed the type | |
wanted of tractors that would be most appropriate for Cuba. In June, the commit- ll |
olitical tee telegraphed the Cuban government, “We are willing to make available ‘ |
d them | 500 agricultural tractors with plowing accessories, disks, and harrows of
cat, JFK | the types needed the most to increase Cuba’s agricultural production and | | |
xhaust- raise the standard of living of the Cuban people.”82 Meanwhile, all of the
n meet- captives were sentenced to thirty years in prison.
But the The committee then sent a group of agricultural experts to Havana, and ' '
nutes of by that time the central question was not the type of equipment Cubans
sident’s should or should not want but whether the payment would be an “indem-
yment of nity” for harming Cuba, as the Cubans insisted, or a “ransom” for the pris-
to move oners, as Washington preferred. Unable to reach an agreement, the experts
returned to the United States, and in late June, the committee disbanded,
them for returning unopened envelopes containing donations from more than -
~hearsed seventy thousand citizens. Only in December 1962, after the missile crisis, |
f tractors were the prisoners exchanged for about sixty million dollars in food and
focusing medicine
; to break
can do is IN THE MEANTIME, Cuba’s revolutionary government had a solid victory.
worms to Arthur Schlesinger had warned Jrk that the operation “would fix a ma-
ecifically, ‘levolent image of the new Administration in the minds of millions,” and
' the pris: ,.-'ala's Schlesinger soon discovered while traveling in Europe, the invasion had
greement 'done just that. It also tapped into the deepest well of Cuban nationalism
Creating what probably stands as the most enthusiastic May Day audience’
emanded. ny country’s history. “Rights do not come from size,” Fidel Castro told
vitched to lthe crowd. “Right does not come from one country being bigger than an-
described Dt'her.b That does not matter. We have only a limited territory, a small na-
) . e
?\’;;1)::;1]: e ii;;our right is as respectable as that of any country.7 regardless of
as quickly

wer, labor®
the Cuban
ctors.
-d states @
rhe first!
ere refu



